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1. Name of Property

historic name _ University Courts-Historic District

other names/site number 105-055-69000 (North UniverSitV Historic District)

2. Location
roughly bounded by 7th, Indiana,
street & number _10th Streets and Woodlawn Avenue nal] not for publication
city or town Bloomington na  [I viéinity
state Indiana code _IN county Monroe code 105 . zip code 47408

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, | hereby certify that this B nomination
O request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property
& meets [ does qot meet the National Register criteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant

O nationally ewide @Iocilly. (3 see continuation sheet for additional comments.)

ot / 2/3/257

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State of Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property [] meets [] does not meet the National Register criteria. (L] See continuation sheet for additional
comments.)

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certification
| hereby certify that the property is: Signature of the Keeper Date of Action
(] entered in the National Register.

[J see continuation sheet.

(] determined eligible for the
National Register
] see continuation sheet.
[J determined not eligible for the
National Register.
[J removed from the National
Register.

O] other, (explain:)




university Lourts H.D.
Name of Property

Monroe Co., IN
County and-State

5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property

(Check as many boxes as apply) {Check only one box)
[4 private L1 building(s)
O pubtic-focal ™ district
(B public-State O site

0 structure
L] object

[ public-Federal

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter “N/A™ if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

na

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing Noncontributing
77 6 buildings
0 0 sites
4 2 - 0 i structures
3 0 objects
122 6 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed
in the National Register

0

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
{(Enter categories from instructions)

see continuation sheet

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

see continuation sheet

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

see continuation sheet

Narrative Description

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation _ STONE: limestone

walls BRICK

STONE: limestone
roof ASPHALT
other WOOD: weatherboard

TERRA~COTTA

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)




University Courts H.D.
Name of Property

Monroe Co., IN

Cf)ﬁﬁiy and State

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark “'x'" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property
for National Register listing.)

{". A Property is associated with events that have made
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses
high artisiic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

i D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark “x” in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

[J A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

(J B removed from its original location.

[J C a birthplace or grave.

[J D a cemetery.

L1 E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.

L1 F a commemorative property.

[ G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance

within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance )
(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

‘Areas of Significance

(Enter categories from instructions)

ARCHITECTURE

COMMUNITY PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT

Period of Significance
1906-1938

Significant Dates
na

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

na

Cultural Affiliation
na

Architect/Builder
Nichols, John; Grindle, Alfred

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibilography

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

[J preliminary determination of individual listing (36
CFR 67) has been requested

0 previously listed in the National Register

L) previously determined eligible by the National
Register

(] designated a National Historic Landmark

[ recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey
#

U recorded by Historic American Engineering
Record #

Primary location of additional data:

[ State Historic Preservation Office
(] Other State agency
(] Federal agency
[J Local government
[ University
3 Other
Name of repository:

Monroe County Public Library

Indiana Room of the




University Courts H.D. - Monroe Co., IN
Name of Property County and State

10. Geographical Data
' 20.1

Acreage of Property

UTM References
(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)

111,6] |5]4,0/8,4,0] 14,3]3,5/7,3,0| 51 1,6] 15/4,112,00] 4,3]3,5/3,4,0
Zone Easting Northing Zone Eastln Northing
o |1,6] |5]4,1]2,0,0] |4, 313 5(7,3,0 4 |1,6] [5]4,0/8,4,0] (4, 3;3 5(3,4,0

[Z} see continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification
(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

11. Fdrm Prepared By

. Cynthia Brubaker, Architectural Conservator
nameftitle

Portfolio Design, Inc. date  June 30, 1992

organization

street & number

222 North College Ave., Suite 309elephone 812-334-2488

Bloomington state IN Zip code 47404

city or town

Additional Documentation
Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets
Maps

A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property’s location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.
Photographs

Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional items
(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner
{Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.)

on file at DHPA

name

street & number _ ' telephone

city or town state zip code

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain
a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including time for reviewing
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect
of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.O. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of
Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Projects (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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Function or Use
Historic Functions

DOMESTIC/ single dwelling
DOVESTTIC/multiple dwelling
DOMESTIC/ secordary structure
EDUCATION/education-related housing
RELIGION/religious structure
LAMSCAPE/street furniture/dyiect

Current Functions
DOMESTIC/ single dwelling
DOMESTIC/iultiple Gwelling
DOHMESTIC/ secondary struchure
EDUCATTON/education-related housing
RELIGICN/religious structure
LANDSCAPE/ street furniture/olrject

O
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Architectural Classification

Colonial Revival

Georgian Revival

Classical Revival

Tudor Revival

Mission/Spanish Colonial Revival
Bungalow/Craftsman
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SUMMARY

The University Courts Historic District is comgosed of several institutional
buildings interspersed harmoniously with single family residences, duplexes and
small apartment buildings, just northwest of the Indiana University campus in
Bloamington, Monroe County, Indiana. A wealth of architectural styles, popular
during the time of the district's development between 1911 and 1938, and
executed in a rich variety of building materials, are presented with a
comfortable residential scale. Brick and limestone predominate among the
buildings and the many retaining walls, which, along with Bloomington's only
remaining brick streets, create a charming and unigue environment. The
cuanbination of university related uses and housing for prominent Bloominghon
citizens provides a historic synthesis of "town and gown.”” The solid integrity
of the district's rescurces promotes this historic association.

There are a total of 128 resources in the district. The 77 contributing
uildings include 1 church; 4 greek houses, 43 houses, 15 duplexes; 2 apartment
buildings and 12 garages. The retaining walls in the district are counted as 38
contrivuting structures {one per property). The four brick streets, Park, Fess,
Eighth and Ninth, are counted as four conmtributing structures. There are three
contrilbuting oojects. The six noncontributing resources include one carport,
two ranch style houses; two apartment buildings and one museum muilding, ail
built since the period of significance. The Indiana University campus surrounds
the district to the east and south. The immediate campus area includes
dormitory buildings, athletic fields, tennis courts, the journalism building;
the student union uilding and a large grassy area known as Dunn Meadow. East
Tenth Street provides a northern boundary and separates the district from an
apartment building and houses that display a different chavacter from those in
the district. Houses in the six lots northwest of the district were not
developed until after the period of significance and the proposed Nocth Indiana
Avenue Historic District abuts the district to the west. Most of the houses in
the district are sited high above the strset with limestone and biick retaining
walls or grassy banks at the perimeter of the yards and abutting the sidewalks.
All of the streets within the district's boundaries are paved with bricks.

Markings on the bricks read "Poston Block," “"Poston's Knobstone Block' and
"Brazil" (Brazil, Indiana).

GREEK HOUSES

Four bhuildings in the district are large brick or limestone structures uilt to
house Indiana University fraternities or sororities. The Sigma Chi House,
erected in 1906, is the only svructura in the distyict that predates platting of
the area. It was the first greek house to be built ai Indiana University and is
one of two imiildings in the district built and still functioning as a greck
house. ated at the southwest commer of the district at 601 East Seventh
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Street {photo 1}, this two-and-one-half-story, limestone veneer, Georgian
Revival house is distinguished by its large central portico, delicate entrance
with elliptical fanlight transom, gambrel roof and pedimented attic dormers.
Tne house was remodeled and doubled in size in 1953. The addition was desigred
in a coapatible style with the seme limestone veneer details,; so that the
uilding's contrvibuting gualities are maintained.

-

The Kappa Alpna Theta sorority house at 441 North Woodlawn (photo 7) was bailt

stween 1931 and 1934, and is the second of two ugreek houses built and still
functioning as such. This limestone veneer, Tudor Revival style house has
characteristic steeply pitched, slate tile roofs, multiple gables, a crenclated
parapet on a one-story library addition and multi-paned steel casement windows.
A contributing garage is located in the parking lot behind the Kappa Alpha Theta
house. This limestone structure originally serviced a house facing North Park,
which was torn down. The limestone retaining wall along the alley on the scuth
edge of the property is a contriluting structure.

The former Delta Tau Delta fraternity house at 601 East Bighth (vhoto 15} was
built during the school year of 1935-193G. Thisg brick Georgian Revival
structurs was built to veplace a Tudor Revival style Delta Tau Delta house that
oburned on the same site in February of 1935. The house was convertad for use as
the Indiana University William Hammond Mathers Museum of World Cultures in the
1980s. The large two-and-one-half-story structure is brick with massive
iimestone qguoinsg, limestone window and door surrounds and a slate tile roof. A
two-story, in antis portico, a limestone entrance portico and attic dormers give
the main or south facade its impressive, Tormmal appearance. The limestone
retaining wall with brick piers is a contributing structure on this vrogerty.
The modern,; 1970s Glen Black Archaeology Ieboratory uilding was doubled in size
in the 1980s with the addition of the Mathers Museun in the same modern styvle.

A narrow passadge was uilt to comnect the new building with the former Delta Tau
Delta house; which becare part of the museum. The new building is counted as a

: T

separate noncontributing resource and described further belcow.

The Delta Zeta sorority house at 809-815 East Seventh (photo 4) was built
between 1922 and 1925. This two-and-one-half-story brick Classical Revival
house has a two-story pedimented portico on the main or south facade. The house
was expanded to the east in the 1950s with a large lrick addition Jdesigned in a
sympathetic style. The house currently serves as offices for Indiana
University. The brick retaining wall at the front of the property is a
contrimuting structure.
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In addition to the four greek houses described above, many houses in the
district were built as single family howes and later converted to use as greek
houses. These include: 703 East Seventh, which was the Alpha Omicron Pi
sorority house for over thirty years (photo 2 is from the 1223 Indiana
University yearbook, the Arbutus} and the Tau Kappa Tosilon house in the 1960s;
402 North Park (ghoto 9}, which was thie Delts Tau Delta fratermnity house from
1921 to 1526; 825 East Eighth (photo 6), which was the Kappa Delta sorority
house for most of the 1920s; the Fllis Jomson house at 501 North Park (photo
24), which was the Ovega Pgi Phi fraternity house in the 1970s and 1980s: and
the FHoadley house at 513 North Park (ghoto 23}, which was the Zeta Beta Tau
hcuse in the 1960s snd the Alpha Sigma Phi fraternity house in the 1970s. One
house uilt as a duplex at 422 North Fess {photo 17), was the Kappa Delta
sorority house for a short time in the 1930s. These houses are described in
nore detail below,

CHURCH

The University Lutheran Church at 607 East Seventh (photo 1) is the only
religiocus structure in the district. Alfred Grindle, an English born architect,
designed the “University Evangelical Lutheran Church,” dedicated in 1932, This
limestone veneer church is largely Gothic Revival with parapet gable ends,
buttresses and a crenelated bell tower. Tudor Revival influence is alsc present
in the half-timber entrance structure and the attached parsonage. Grindle also
designed the Trinity Episcopal Church on Kirkwood, two schools and muerous
houses in a similar style. The limestone retaining wall is a contrilbuting
structure and the outdoor announcement sign at the front of the church is a
contributing object.

STNGLE FAMILY DWELIINGS

Forty-three single family houses were built in the district between the platting
of the First University Courts Addition in 1911 and 1938. 8Six houses built with
limestone veneer include two palatial homes at 703 East Seventh {photo 2) and
513 North Park. The former was one of the first houses built in the district.
University Courts developer Iouis Hughes, built this lome in a sprawling
rectilinear plan and under the stylistic influence of the Craftsman movement. 2
three-story tower with a hipped roof, colonnaded sunvoom with a flat roof and a
gabled two-story extension to the west, all contribute to the complexity of the
plan. 2n atrium space with a fountain once graced the inside of this elegant
structure, which was converted for use as a sorority and later for offices.
mxterior Craftsman style details include the exposed roof rafters, the use of
locally quarried rock-faced limestone veneer and multi-paned casement windows.
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The HoadGley house at 513 Rorth Park (photo 23) was muilt by a limestone company
owner in 152&6. William Hoadley designed the house in a style inspired through
his exposure to hundreds of house plans in his estimating work at the stone
mill. Tudor Revival influence is present in the large front-facing gables,
Tudor arch deorway and multi-paned casement windows.

Iouis Hughes built a more modest limestone veneer house at 715 East Seventh
{photo 3) between 1922 and 1925. This Tudor Revival and Craftsman style house
is distinguished by the steep pitch and multiple gables of the Tudor Revival
style, a limestone veneer facade, Craftsman style eave brackets and multi-pened
sash, and a fanlight transcm over the front door. The limestorne retaining wall
at the front of the property is a contributing structure. The limestone veneer
house at 422 North Indiana (photo 16) was built by a local businessman between
1817 and 1216 in the Dutch Colonial Revival style. The signature gambrel, clay
tile roof and symmetirical composition are augmented by Craftsman style details
such as oversized eave brackets, multi-paned sash and exposed rafters on the
fiat-rcofed povrches. The limestone retaining wall around this property is a
contributing structure. Two smaller limestone veneer houses were constructed
between 1920 and 1927 at 801 East Ninth (photo 9, far left) and 809 East Winth.
Both are simple structures with Craftsman style details.

The most common building material in the University Courts Historic District is
red brick. Twenty-seven houses originally built as single family howes were
constructed with brick venesr. Three are large bungalows including the Spanish
Colonial Revival 705 East Seventh {photo 3) built betweer: 1911 and 1916 by one
of the original owners and developers of the neighborhood. A Spanish Colonial
style curvilinear gable with limestone vigas is combined with Craftsman style
exposed roof rafters, two-toned brown tapestry brick and a vesic bungalow form.
The house at 712 East Eighth is also a good example of the lungyalow style.

The Eilis Johnson house at 501 North Park {photo 24, ca. 1930) built in 1922 is
a quintessential example of the Craftsman/bungalow style. Xnee braces, exposad
roof rafters, multi-paned sash and the wide front porch with lavge corner piers,
are all typical feabtures found here. The limestone retaining wall surrounding
the house is a contributing structure on the property. Johnson's father,
Charles; built a very similar house at 8C4 East Eighth (ghoto 8} the same vear.
& comparison of these two houses reveals the closeness of the Craftsman and
Tudor Revival styles. The two have identical details,; knee braces, rulti-paned
sash, exposed rafters and ved brick, but one has a bungalow form with a low-
pitched roof, the other a more Tudor Revival forn with steeply-pitched cables.
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Two period revival styles are used among the brick single fammily homes in the
district. Three examples of Tudor Revival style oottages uilt with red brick
vaneer are found at 801 East Seventh {(photo 4) and 409 North Park (with ceramic
tile roof), both with multiple, steeply pitched gables and built in the late
1920s, and 504 North Fess {photos 18 and 24), built between 1829 and 1931. The
house at 504 North Fess was built as the third in a trio of houses (the other
two are duplexes) centered around a courtyard and ringed by a limestone and
orick retaining wall. Semi-circular stairwells cut into the retaining wall
provide access from the sidewalk to the level of the yard above. 2an original
limestone bixd bath with carved seahorses and outdoor krick fireplace in the
backyard of 504 North Fess are counted as two contributing objects. This
complex of resources at 504-512 North Fess represents an outstanding resource in
the district.

The most daninant architectural styie represented amchy the district’s
red brick homes is the American Colonial or Georgian Revival style. These
inciude the houses at:

309 North ¥Woodlawn (photo 5)

321 Worth Woodlawn (photo 5)

402 North Park (photo 9)

410 Horth Park {photo %)

415 North Park

516 North Fess

517 North Fess (photo 19)

520 North Fess

the Ward Jonnson house at 707 East Eighth (photo 12, ca. 1930)
713 East Eighth, with contributing garage (photo 12)
309 TEast Eighth (photo 6)

815 East Eighth (photo 6)

702 East Tenth {photo 21)

These houses display classical details such as modillioned cornices, entrance
porticoes, multi-paned sash and end gable returns, which are all typical of the
style. The house at 702 East Tenth has a ceramic tile roof.

Six brick single family homes in the district are typical of the
Craftsman/American four-square style. These include: 421 North Park (photo 7);
505 North Fess (photo 18); 506 Rorth Indiana; 701 East Eighth (photo 13), with a
contributing garage at the rear; 803 East Eighth (photo %) and 714 East Ninth.
One Prairie style house in the district is found at 825 East Eighth {photo 6).
The wide overhanging eaves, grouped narrow windows, and horizontal orientation
are characteristic of this styie.
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Wood frame single family howmes were also built in the University Courts Historic
District. One, located at 812 East Eighth (photo 8), is a small cottage; which
igs an anomaly among the distvict's spacious houses. Three are Colonial Revival
in style including the house at 802 East Eighth (photo 8) and 515 North Park
{photo 23}, which are both American Colonial Revival, and the house at 704 East
Tenth (photo 21), which, with its gambrel roof, is Dutch Colonial Revival. The
house at 515 Worth Park has a contributing garage at the rear. The remaining
wood frame houses ave Craftsman/American four-squave in style. The basic
American four-squares include: 502 North Indiana {photo 16), which las
ciassical porch columns that were added in the 1980s; and 519 and 521 North Fess
{photo 20). Two simple wood frame homes include a two-story hipped rocf house
at 503 North Park (photo 24) and a one-and-one-half-story gabled roof house at
521 North Park (photo 22). An American four-sguare with Craftsman details is
the stith Thompson house at 406 North Fess (photo 13). The battered porch
posts; knee braces and three-over-one window sash are typical of this style.

MJLUTT-FAMILY DWELLINGS

Seventeen historic luildings in the district were huilt as multi-family
dwellings including side-by-side duplexes (two floors per unit), one-over-one
flats {one floor per wit) and apartments. These stiructures were designed and
built during the same period with the same building materials; scale, massing
and architectural styles as the single family homes in the district. As a
vesult of this consistency, the multi-family dwellings blend well with the
residential character of the district. In addition, nearly ail of these muiii-
family dwellings were originally owner occupied with tenants who were colleagues
and friends, thereby contributing to the neighborly atmosphere of the district.

The side-by-side duplexes built with limestone veneer inciude: two houses in
the Tudor Revival/Craftsman style at 622-624 East Eighth and 315-317 North Fess
{with contributing garage}, (photo 14), which are both distinguished by haif-
timbering in the gables; a Craftsnan/american four-square house at 710-712 East
Ninth {photo 17); and an American Colonial Revival style house at 422 North Fess
(photo 17), which is surrounded by a limestone retaining wall.

The side-by-sides built with brick veneer include: two Craftsman/American four-
scuares at 816-820 ZEast Eighth and 714 Fast NHinth {photo 17); a Tudor Revival at
514 North Fess with a contrilbuting garage; and American Colonial Revival style
nouses at 310-312 North Park. 506-508 Rorth Fess and 510-512 North Fess. The
duplexes at 506-512 North Fess, togyether with the single family house at 50
North Fess, are clustered around a center courtvard and surrounded bv a
limestone and brick retainding wall with arched gateways (described above).
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The Craftsmen/American four-square duplex at 525-527 North Park {photo 22) is a

wood frame structure with a limestone foundation and a brick pordii. he twin
Craftsman style Feltus Duplexes at 715-717 East Eighth and 405-407 North Park
{photo 10} have brick venser on the first floor and are wood frame with koard
and batten siding on the second floor. The wide overhanging eaves, exoposed roof
rafters, open porch roof trusses and multi-paned upper sash are dharacteristic
Craftsman style details replicated on both buildings. This pair, with one
facing south and the other turned ninety degrees and facing east, is an
outstending resource in the district.

Three houses in the district are described as one-over-one flats, wiere one unit
is on the first floor and the second unit is above it on the second floor. The
limestcone veneer Bowman house, a Craftsman/American four-square style house et
718-720 East Eighth (photo 11) is an example of this form uilt oy a limestone
coipeny owner. The solid construction displavs such Crafitsmsn style details as
the use of local limestone and rative hardwood framing, a cement tile roof and
muiti--paned upper sash. The Spanish Colonial Revival house at 715 East Seventh
{ghoto 3) is a brown brick veneer version of this form, which is accented with
limestone guoins, sills and lintels, some over round-arvched windows and a
colonnaded porch with exposed roof rafters and a limestone medallion in its east
gable. The American Colonial Revival house of flats is found next door at 309-
311 North Park with a red brick veneer facede trimmed in limestone.

Cecil and Inez Harlos designed and decorated the two-building Harlos Court
Apartments complex at 509-513 Rorth Fess and 515 North Fess (ghoto 18) in 1927.
The contoured parapets; multi-peaned stecl casement windows and tiled roof
sections charvacterize the Spanish Colonial stvle of these large wulti~family
brick dwellings. Technically,; the buildings were gide by side flats (505-513)
and apartments (515). The interiors of the apartments have spacious f£loor
plans,. original wood trim and floors and retain their original integrity.

NONCONTRIBUTING

The noncontributing resources in the district include two siall 1950s ranch
style houses at 607 East Ninth and 503 North Fess, two 1580s apartment houses at
408-420 North Fess (photo 17). the 1970s and 1900s Indiana University Glernn A,
Black ILaboratory of Archasology and William Hamnond Mathers Museun of World
Cultures on the west side of the four hundred block of North Fess {photo 15) and
a carport behind the house at 405-407 Worth Park. The carport is at the rear of
its lot and not visible from the street. The ranch and apartment houses are
built in a way that maintains the common street wall and the scale of
surrounding buildings. The Black Laboratory/Mathers Museum building presents
the biggest intrusion into the integrity of the district however, contributing
resources surround this building to the degree that ithe cverall integrity of the
district is not compromised Ly its presence,
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SUMMRRY

The comfortable; gracious homes in the University Courts Historic District were
built by developers; limestone men, others whose fortunes were made in business
and industry in Bloomington, and by distinguished members of Indiana
University's academic commmity. The houses were constructed predominantly out
of brick and limestone in the popular pericd revival styles of the day.
Georgian, Spanish Colondal or Mission Revival dominated in the 1920s and
Colonial Revival in the 1930s. The influence of the Craftsman movemernt is also
evident throughout the district. In University Courts, a church and greek
letter society houses were interspersed harmoniously with single femily
residences, duplexes and small apartwent buildings. All were built at a
comfortable residential scale. The wealth of architectural styles, rich variety
of building materials, brick and limestone retaining walls, and Blcomington's
only remaining brick streets, create a charming and unique envircorweit, a
synithesis of “town end gown.'

HISTORIC CONTEXT

Upon examination of historic districts identified in the City of Bloomington
Interim Report---Indiana Historic Sites and Structures Inventory the University
Courts Historic Distrvict can be evaluated in the contex: of residential
neichborhoods developed between 1906 and 1538. Special emphasis within this
context will ke placed on neighborhicods that relate geographically to the
Irdiana University cempus. No comparable districts exist elsewhere in Moriroe
County .

In 1857, Moses Fell Dumn; an attorney and farmer, inherited a 160-acre tract of
land that encompassed what is now the University Courts Historic District. Dun
sold and platted parcels of his land over the vears including the land for the
new Indiana University campus, which moved from Seminary Syuare in 1884. The
city expanded eastward toward the new campus and new residential and commercial
areas were created. Eloomington experienced a period of general growth and
prosperity beginning with the boom in the limestone industry, furniture
manufacturing and the university in the 1890's, which lasted into the 1920
and which played a role in the development of the University Courts distric

S;
t.

The Sigma Chi house, erected in 1906, is the only structure in the district that
predates platting of the area. The University Courts Historic District is made
up of four additions to the City of Bloomington, which were platted batween 1911
and 1913. Moses Dum, whose farmhouse stood just east of the present
neiginborhood on the site of the Indiana University HPER building (the former
Men's Gym), sold the land to Elvet and Cora Fhodes in 1910. The Rhodeses,
together with the German American Trust Company, platted the First University
Courts Additicn in 1911 {(bounded by Seventh, Indiana, Tenth and Fess). The
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Rhodeses sold an adjoining parcel of the land to Thomas and Nettie Sare in 1913,
wio in turn platted the Second {(bounded by Seventh, Fess, Tenth and Park), Third
{(bounded by Seventh, Park, Tenth and Sluss, now Woodlawn} and Fourth (bounded by
Seventh, Sluss, Tenth and Forest) University Courts Additions the same year.

The Sare's sold the platted land to the University Court Realty Company, a group
of Bloomington bankers and lawyers, who developed the neighborhood by providing
certain amenities and selling off the lots for building. The Fourth Addition
was purchased by Indiana University and the other three additions developed into
a highly desirable neighborhood in the 1920s and 1330s for the important men and
women of Bloanington and the university. The newest historic resource in the
district is the house at 503 North Park, built between 1836 and 1938.

The City of Bloomington Interim Report identified six residential historic
digtricts that enjoy geographic nearness to the campus. These include: the Elm
Heights Historic District {105-055-76000); the University Street Historic
Bungalow District {105-055-75000): the Fast Second Street Historic District
{105-055-74000); the South Dunn Street Historic District {105-0555-73000); the
North Indiana Avenue Historic District (105-055-68000); and the University
Courts Historic District {105-055-69000, listed as North University Historic
District). The South Dumn Street and North Indiana Avenue districts were both
developed before the turn of the century and have many resources that date from
vefore the platting of the University Courts district. The other districts
listed were platted and developed within the same general time frame as the
University Courts district and do enjoy similar architectural resources.

The University Courts Historic District is unigue amonyg these districts for its
unigue combination of single and multi-family housing, a church, fraternities
and sororities. The Sigma Chi house, erected in 1906, was the first greek house
to be uilt at Indiana University. As many as nine greek letter sccieties were
housed in University Courts over the years. Some of these dwellings were
originally designed as single-family homes and were later used for greek houses.
The close proximity to the campus contributed to the popularity of the
neighborhood for housing students as well as, faculty and administration.

EISTCRY OF BUTLDERS AND RESIDENTS

One of the first builder/residents in the district was Iouis W. Hughes,
proprietor of the Hughes Brothers Company. TLocated at the carner of Fourth
Street and the Monon Railroad near downtown Bloomington in 1916, the family
cowned and run business was established in 1880 and sold “evervthing in building
material.” Hughes built the large house at 703 East Seventh (photo 2} and lived
here with his wife, Maude Orr Hughes, by 1916. By 1922, Hughes was living in a
duplex at 710-712 East Ninth (ghoto 17) and his home at 703 Bast Seventh was the
Alpha Omicron Pi sorority house. By 1925, Hughes was living at 715 East Seventh
{photo 3}, which he also built.
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Ancther early builder/resiGent in the district was Thomas J. Sare (1869-1944),
attorney in the fimm Springer & Sare. Sare, a graduate of the Indiana
University Law School, was a mamber of the state legisliature in 1815, a partner
in the Sare-Hoadley Stone Campany and a partner in the University Court Realty
Company, to which he and his wife, Nettie Tarkington Sare, sold some of the land
olatted for the district. The Sares huilt ard occupied the house at 705 East
Seventh {ghoto 3} between 1911 and 1916. In 1925, the Sares had built and moved
to a new nouse two doors down at 719 East Seventh {photo 3}, where they remained
until the 1940s. Henvy Lester Smith, Dean of the Indiana University School of
Blucation, and his wife, Johnne Rutland Smith (188%-1977), patron of the arts,
author, educator, women's advocate and member of--the Monroe County Hall of Fane,
lived in the Sare's first house at 705 East Seventh from 1925 until the 1970s.

Many of the houses in the distvict were built and/or occupied by proprietors of
local businesses or actors in the political scene. These include:

Walter W. 2llen, Allen Funeral Hone, and his wife, Glenna, at 704 East
Tenth (photo 21)

Ben Becovitz, The Touben clothing store, and his wife;, Mabsll, at 622-624
East Eighth (photo 14)

Elmer L., Bender, Globe Clothing Campany, and his wife, Henrietta, at 512~
514 North Indiana, demolished 1992

Tunie Buskirk, widow of prominent Bloomington lawyer anG stone rman Philip
Rearny “"P.K.” Buskirk, at 505 North Fess {photo 19)

£

Herman Bowman, Bowman Schwab limestone mill, and his wife, Elizabeth; at

718-720 East Eighth (photo 11)

Joseph H. Campbell, dayor of Bloomington, and his wife, Ida, at 215 East
Seventh, no longer standing

Paul Feltus, publisher of the weekly BLOOMINGTON STAR, newsletters and
trade journals, and his wife, Lucille, at 405-407 North Park {photo 10)

Preston Gilliatt, Graham Hotel, and his wife, Sara, at 422 North Fess

{photo 17)

Herman U. Grant, Grant Sales Agency, and his wife, Sara Grant; at 701 East
Eighth (photo 13)
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Cecil Harlos; builder with Hughes Brothers Company, builder and resident,
with wife, Inez, of the Harlos Court Apartments at 508-515 North Fess
(photo 19)

Almer O. Henry, Henry and Rerr bakery and restaurant, and his wife,
Margaret Belle Henvy, at 801 East Seventh {photo 4)

William B. Hoadley, lawyer, stone comparny owner, state senator and
president of Valhalla Memorial Park, and his wife, Lucille Fughes Hoadley,
daughter of University Courts' developer Iouis Hughes, at 513 North Park
{photo 23)

Charles, Ward and Ellis Johnson; Charles and sons, Werd and Ellis, ran
Johnson's Creamery, a local diary and ice house; Charles and his wife,

Vary, lived first at the southeast cormer of Winth and Fess, no longer

standing, then in retirement at 804 East Eighth (photo 8): Ward and his
wirfe, Ada, built the house at 707 East Eighth {photo 12); and Tllis w«rd
his wife, Bula, built the house at 501 North Park (photo 24)

Thomnas G. Karsell, Bloomington Milling Company, and his wife, Harriet, at
422 North Indiana (photo 16)

Joseph and Agnes Nurre, Nurre Mirror Plate Company, 617 Fast Fighth, no
longer standing

Edgar O'Harrow, Varsity Pharmacy, and his wife, Opal, at 321 North
Woodlawn (photo 5)

John W. O'Harrow, druggist and owner of G'Harrow's Drug Store, and his
wife, Cora, at 715-717 East Eighth (photo 10)

George H. Smith, Smith Electric Company, and his wife, Maude K., at 410
North Park (photo 9)

Charles H. Springer, attorney and partner with Thomas Sare;, and his wife,
Ella; at 816-820 East Eighth

W. Earl Sullivan, Sullivan and Fast Clothiers,; at 618 East Hinth, no
longer standing

Chester F. Tourner, Tourner Coal Canpany, and his wife, Ethel 8., at 405-
407 Rorth Park {photo 10)

;
!
!
{
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Harry P. and Nova Vonderscimitt, Indiana Theatre, at 409 North Park

=

E.D. Williams, Williams Jewelry and Music Store, and his wife, Ella, at
502 North Indiana (photo 16)

Circuit Court Judge James B. Wilson, and his wife, Maude, at 402 North
Park {photo 9)

Glen Woodward, Woodward Insurance Agency, and his wife, Ella, at 501 North
Park {photo 24)

Numerous Indiana University professors and administrators resided in the
district from the begiming of its development up to the present time. BSome of
£ .

these are:

William F. Book; professor, and his wife, Clara F., at 504 and 506-508
North Fess {phioto 138)

Ivy L. Chaimess, Director of Publicaticns, at 710-712 East Winth {pghoto
17)

Zora G. Clevenger {1881-1970), head of the Athletic Department from 1923
to 1946, and his wife, Ethel 5., at 310-312 Horth Park {photo 8)

Mador H.B, Crea, Military Instructor, and his wife, Jessie, at 816-820
Fast Eighth

Evereti 5. Dean; basketball and baseball coach, at 715-717 East Eighth
{photo 10)

Beatrice Geiger, Professor of Chemistry, at 514 North Fess
Earl C. Hayes, track coach, at 710-712 East Ninth (photo 17)

; Dean of the Law School and later Governor of

Paul V. Mcihutt (1821-
33-1837, and his wife, Katherine, at 712 East Eighth

Indiana fram 1933
Thomas F. Nicholson, Professor of Psychology, and his wife, Nora E.; at
519 North Fess {photo 20)

William A. Rawles; Dean of the 3chool of Comerce aind Finance, and his
wife, Harriet P., at 415 North Park
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Una Robinson, Professor of Home Econcmics; at 514 North Fess

Elizabeth Sage, Assistant Professor of Hone Economics and founcer of the
Elizabeith Sage Costume Collection (which contains articles of clothing
fron 1830 to the present), at 812 East Eighth (photo 8)

Henry Lester Smith, Dean of the School of Flucation, and his wife, Jolume
Rutland Smith, mentioned above, at 705 East Seventh (photo 3)

Fwald O. "Jubo’ Stiehm, football coach; at 825 East Eidghith {photo 6)

Stith Thompson, Professor of English and Folklore; and his wife, Loulse;
at 406 Noxrth Fess {photo 13)

Dean of Women Agnes E. Wells, at 715<717 East Eighth (photo 10) and 420
North Indiana, no longer standing

Renneth Willlams, Professor of Mathematics, father of the R,0.7T.C. at
Indiana University, and celebrated author of a five volume history of the
Civil Var, Lincoln Finds a General, at 702 Bast Tenth {photo 21)

ARCHITECTS :

Two architects are known to have designed structures in the district. The
University Evangelical Lutheran Chucch at 607 East Seventhn {photo 1}; organized
in 1930 and dedicated in 1932, was designed by Alfred Grindle, an English born
and trained architect. The style of the chuxch is typical of other projects of
Grindle's in Bloomington including the Trinity Episcopal Church (105-055-80092), |
the Eim Heicdhts School (105-055-76017) and Hunter School and several homes in
the Flm Heights Historic District (105-055-76000}). Grindie donated the altar
set in the church and a watercolor peinting was donated by Baden Grindie.
Stained glass windows in the church were donated by members. Grindle also
desiuned a commercial structure at 120 North Walnut, which is in the Courthouse
Suuare iHistoric District (listed on the National Register December 13, 189C).

The second architect in the district was John Lincola Nichols, a native 5
Bleoonington axchitect. Nichols Gesigned at least four houses in the district,

all Jdesigned ar built by 1522. These inciude: the Ward Johnson hwuse at 707
East Eighth (photo 12, ca. 1930); the James Havens residence at 515 North Park
{photo 23}; the J.B. amallwood residence at 716 East Bighth (no longer
standing); and a house for Robert Hamilton at 517 North Fess {photo 18).
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CRITERION &

The University Courts Historic district is sionificant under critecion A for its
contribution to the history of conmunity planmiivg and develogment in
Bloanington. The University Court Realty Cuipany, whose memders inciuded waiy
builders and residents of the district; were rvesponsible for the develounent of
the neidhborhood. Brick paved streets, sidewalks and street licghts were
instalied in the nine-block area in an effort to present a unified and desirable
neighborhcod close to campus and dowrnttown. The building of high quality multi-
family dwellings in a traditional single-family-dwelling atmosphere provicded a
new and unique enviconment for the growing usiness and wniversity community.
The new building lots were bought up by Bloomington's elite, many of whon moved
from large older homes along North College Avenue, North Walnul and North
Washington Streets.

CRITERION C

The University Courts Historic District is significant under criterion C for its
embodiment of architectural styles popular between the fivst platting of the
district in 1911 and the construction of the newest historic rescurce in 1938.
The district is alsco unique for its representation of several housing types:
single and multi~family homes; gyreek letter society houses; a church and
apartment houses; all built with the very best materials and every "molern
corniverience,

The architectural styles in the district include the American Colonial,
Georgian,; Classical, Tudor and Mission or Spanigh Colonial Revivals and
Craftsuan wingalows, American four-squaves and coitages. These buildings were
constructed with limestone and brick veneer facades or in wood frawe. many have
slate or ceramic tile roofs. The quality of workmanship was very good and most
of these homes retain a high degree of original details, materiais and floor
plan.

The housing types in the district include one church, fow: greek houses (one
with a contributing garage), forty-three single-family dwellings (five with
contributing varages) and seventeen multi--family dwellings (six with
contributing garages). The multi-family structures include side-by-side
duplexes (two floors per unit), one-over-one flats (one floor per unit) and
apartments. This comoination of housing types is well integrated and is further
awmented by brick and limestone retaining walls; brick streets and mature
landscaping.
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GREER HCGUSES

Four buildings in the district are large brick or limestone structures built to
house Indiana University fraternities or sororities. The Sigma Chi house at 601
East Seventh Street {photo 1), built in 1906/1953, and the Kappa Alpha Theta
house at 441 North Woodlawn {(photo 7}, uilt between 1931 and 1934, were hoth
constructed and still function as a fraternity and sorority respectively. The
Sigma Chi house is a limestone veneer, Georgian Revival house with a large
central portico, entrance portico with elliptical fanlignt transom, gambrel roof
and pedimented attic dormers. The Kappa Alpha Theta house is a limestone
veneer, Tudor Revival style house with characteristic steeply pitched roofs;
rmultiple gables, a crenelated parapet on a one-story library addition and multi-
paned steel casement windows. Greek hausen that have been converted to other
uses include the Delta Tau Delta fraternity house at 601 East Eighth (photo 15),
a brick Georgian Revival structure buiit during the school year of 1535-1936,
and the Delta Zeta sorority house at 809-815 East Seventh (photo 4}, a brick
Classical Revival house bullt hebween 1922 and 1925. Both houses have large
two-story porticos on the main facade and contributing retaining walls around
the property.

Several houses in the district were huilt as single family homes and later
converied to use as greek houses. These incluGe: 703 East Seventh, which was
the alpha Omicron Pi sorority house for over thirly years (photo 2 is from the
1923 Indiana University yearbcox, the Arbutus) and the Tau Kappa Epsilon house
in the 1960s; 402 North Park {(ghoto 9), which was the Delta Tau Delta fraternity
house from 1821 to 1926; 325 East Eighth (photo &), which was the Kappa Delta
sorority house for most of the 1920s; the Ellis Johnson house at 501 North Park
(photo 24), wnich was the Oneva Psi Phi fraternity house in the 1970s and 1980s;
and the Hoadley house at 513 North Park (photo 23), wnich was the Zeta Beta Tau
house in the 1960s and the Alpha Sigma Pni fraternity house in the 1570s. One
nouse built as a duplex at 422 North Fess (photo 17)}; was the Kappa Delta
sorority house for a short time in the 1930s.

CHURCH

The University Lutheran Chwrch at 607 East Seventh (photo 1) is the only
religicus structure in the district. Alfred Grindle, an English born architect;
designed the "University REvangelical Lutheran Chiurch,” Jedicated in 1932. This
limestone veneer church is largely Gothic Revival with parapet gable ends,
uttresses and a crenelated bell tower. Tudor Revival influence is a2lso present
in the half-timber entrance structure and the attached parsonage. Grindle also
designed tie Trinity Episcopal Church on Kirkwood, two schools and numerous
houses in a similar style. The limestone retaining wall at the front of the
property is a contributing structure and the outdoor armouncement sign at the
corner of the property is a contrivuting ouject.
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STNGLE FAMILY DWELLINGS

The single family dwellings in the district include six houses uilt with
limestone veneer facades. Two are palatial homes at 703 East Seventh (photo 2),
built by University Courts developer ILouis Hughes between 1911 and 1216, and the
Hoadley house at 513 Iorth Park {photo 23}, uilt by limestone company owner
William Hoadley in 1826,

|=ta

The most coviron wailding material in the University Courts Historic District
red brick. Twenty-seven houses originally built as single family homes were
constructed with brick veneer., Three are large bunvalows including the Spanish
Colonial Revival 705 East Seventh {photo 3} built between 1211 and 1916 by
University Courts developer Thomas Sare. The Ellis Johnson house at 501 North
Park {ghoto 24, ca. 1530) built in 1922 is a quintessential example of the
Craftsman/bungalow style. Knee braces, exposed roof rafters, multi-paned sash
and the wide front porch with larde corner piers, arve all typical features found
here. Johnson's father, Charles, built a very similar house at 804 East Eighth
{photo 8) the same year. A comparison of these two houses reveals the closeness
of the Craftsman and Tudor Revival stvles. The two have identical details:

knee braces, muiti-paned sash, exposed rafters and red brick; but the former has
a bungalow form with a low-pitched roof, the lathter a more Tudor Revival fomm
with steeply-pitched gables.

g

A large Tudor Revival style cottage built with red brick veneer at 504 North
Fess (photos 18 and 24),; built between 1929 and 1931, was built as the third in
a trio of houses (the other two are duplexes) centered arcund a courtyard and
ringed by a limestone and brick retaining wall. Semi-circular stairwells cut
into the retaining wall provide access from the sidewalk to the level of the
yard above. An original limestone bird bath with carved seahorses and outdoor
brick fireplace in the backyard of 504 North Fess are counted as two
contributing cjects. This complesx of resources at 504-512 North Fess

2 S

represents an outstanding resource in the district.

The nost daninant architectural style represented among the district's popular
red brick hones is the American Colonial or Georgisn Revival style. These
hiouses display classical details such as modillioned cornices, entraince
porticoes, multi-paned sash and end gable returns, which are all typical of the
style. Five brick single family homes in the district are typical of the
Craftsman/American four-square style. One Prairie style house in the district
is found at 825 East Eighth (photo 6). The wide overhanging eaves, grouped
narrow windows, and horizontal orientation are characteristic of this style.
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Wood frame single family homes built in the University Courts Historic Distric
include a small cottage at 812 East Eighth (photo 8), which is an anomaly awong
the district's spacicus houses, two American Colonial and one Dutch Colonial
Revival style houses and Craftsman/Anerican four-squares.

MULTI-FAMITY DWELLINGS

Seventesen historic buildings in the district were built as multi-family
dwellings. These structures were designed and built during the same period with
the same building materials, scale, messing and architectural stvles as the
single family homes in the district. As a wesult of this consistency, the
multi-family dwellings blend well with the vesidential character of the
district. In addition, nearly all of these multi-family dwellings were
originally owner occupied with tenants who were colleagues and friends, thereby
contributing to the neighborly atmosphere of the district.

The side-by-side duplexes were Iuilt with limestone and brick veneer and in wood
frame. One very good example of a limestone veneer duplex ia the district is
found at 422 North Fess (photo 17). This American Colonial Revival style house
is surroundeC by a limestone retaining wall. The side-by-sides built with brick
veneer include: iwo Craftsman/Anerican four-squares at 816-820 East Righth and’
714 East Ninth {photo 17}; a Tudor Revivel at 514 North Fess: and American
Colonial Revival style houses at 310-312 North Park, 506-508 North Fess and 510~
512 North Fess. The duplexes at 506-512 North Fess, together with the single
family house at 504 North Fess, are clustered around a center courtyard and
swrrounded by a limestone and brick retaining wall with arched gateways
{described above).

The twin Craftsman style Feltus Duplexes at 715-717 East Eighth and 405-407
North Park are cutstanding examples of the side-by-side duplex. Both have brick
veneer on the first floor and are wood frame with board and hatten siding on the
second floor. The wide overhanging eaves, exposed roof rafters, open porch roof
trusses and multi-paned upper sash are characteristic Craftsman style details
replicated on both buildings. The former faces south and the latter is sited at
a ninety deyree angle and faces east.

Thiee houses in the district are described as cne-over-one flats, where one unit
iz on the first floor and the second unit is above it on the second floocr. The
limestone veneer Bowman house, a Craftsman/American four-square style house at
718-720 East Eighth {photo 11) is an example of this form built by a limestone
company owner. The sclid construction displays such Craftsman style details as
the use of local limestone and native hardwood framing, a cement tile roof and
multi-paned upper sash. Two other examples are the Spanish Colonial Revival
house at 719 East Seventh (photo 3) and the American Colonial Revival house next
docr at 309-311 North Park.
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Cecil and Inez Harlos designed and decorated the two-building Harlos Court
Apartments complex at 509-513 North Fess and 515 North Fess (photo 19} in 1927.
The contoured parapets,; multi-paned casement windows and tiled roof sections
characterize the Suvanish Colonial style of these large multi-family brick
dwellings. Technically, the buildings were side by side flats (509-513) and
apartments (515). The interiors of the apartments have spacious ficor plans,
original wood trim and floors and retain their original integrity.

INTEGRITY
The noncontributing resources in the district inciude two swail 1950s ranch
style houses at 607 East Ninth and 503 North Fess, two 1930s apartment houses at

408-420 North Fess {photo 17), the 1870s and 19805 Indiana University Glenn A.
Black Iaboratory of Avchaeology and William Hawmond Mathers Museum of World
Cultures on the west side of the four hundred block of North Fess (photo 15) and
a carport behind the house at 405-407 North Park. The carport is at the rear of
its 1ot and not visible from the street. The ranch and apartment houses are
bailt in a way that maintains the comon street wall and the scale of
surrounding ildings. The Black Laboratory/Mathers Museun building presents
the biggest intrusion into the integrity of the district however,; contributing
regsources surround this building to the degree that the overall integrity of the
district is not compromised by its presence.

A master plan created for Indiana University by the New York architects Tgygers
and Higyins in 1944, sited this district as a campus expansion area. Their
report stated that "the heart of the new addition would be bounded by Seventh,
Tenth, Woodlawn and Indiana streets.” At that time, the oldest houses in the
district were only thirty yvears old, the newest only five yezis old. Twenty
vears later, Indiana University began to acquire properties in this expansion
area as thev became availakle. Some of the huildings were demolished; others
were converted for use as offices. Although the ourrent adininistration has no
immediate plans for this avea, the 1944 master plan is still the guiding
docurent. Much of the renovation has respected the interior and exterior of
these houses and has helped preserve the district's historic character.

Owner occupied homes in the district are very well maintained. Some of the
vental properties also enjoy guod waintenance and interiocr integrity. cher

inside with the addition of more units. The buildings of this district
sufficient design elements to convey their significant architectural gualities.
This overall integrity, along with the preservation of the limestone and brick
retaining walls and brick street, ensure the district's ability to conwvey its
feeling of vime and place.
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erbal Boundary Description

Beo_v mlng at tze J_nte Sectlon of tﬂe east CL_.QJ.J_QF of *\Io.r: _11d1aua A\ferrue and

AT

of East Seveutl‘ to the west curollne of n;ortn Woodiawn Avenue, Proceed noritn
along the west curbline of North Woodlawn to the south curbline of Fast Ninth
Street. Then proceed west along the south curbline of Fast Ninth to a point
intersected by the west curbline of the alley west of North Woodlawn. Cross
East Ninth Street and proceed north along the west curbline of said alley to a
point intersected by the north property line of 501 North Park Avenue. Proceed
west along said line to the west curbline of North Park. Then proceed north
along the west curbline of North Park to the south curbline of RFast Tenth
Street. Proceed west to the east curbline of the alley west of North Fess
Avenue. Then proceed south along the east curbiine of said alley to a point
intersected by the north property line of 512-514 North Indiana. Froceed west
along said line to the east curbline of North Indiena. Then proceed south along

the east curbline of North Indiana to the point of beginning.

Bourndary Justification

The University Courts Historic District comprises the First, Second and Third
Universi ty Courts Additions, a nine sguarve block area, with the exception of six
lots in the northwest corner ard most of the block in the northeast corner of
the district. Five of the six lcts in the northwest corner were not developed
mitil after the period of significance. A circa 1915 Craftsman style duplex was
recently demolished at 512-514 North Indiana necessitating a change in the
district boundaries to just nocth of the property at 508 North Indiana. The
block in the northeast corner is the site of three large student domnitory
buildings. Although these student residences were built within the peviod of
significance in a compatible stvie and in caupatible building materi als, the
quadrangle that they form faces away from the district and towards the Indiana
University campus to the east. Thelr placement orients them away Tfrom theé
district and their scale and resource type is not compatible with the district.

The Tndi iena Ur«iversity campus surrowds the district to the east and south. The
proposed. North Indiana Avernwe Historic District abuts the district to the west.
It was oevelo;x:o'{ earlier than the Univer slty Courts Additions, the overall
character is different and a major thoroughfare, North Indiana Avenue, provides
a significant boundary. East Tenth Street provides a similar boundary on the
ncrth and separates the district firom an apartment building and houses that

=N

display a different character from those in the district.
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Owner Information

Owner nenme & address Parcel # Property Address
Aliki Barnstone 013 51¢ North Fess
c/o Dell Hales 1st UC, Lok 24
118 East Severnith Street . 255
Bloomington IN 47408
Fric J. & Werdly Bennettl 013 804 East 8th
4519 Park Iane Coux 3rd UC, Iot 9
Terre Haute TN 473G3 p. 259
Bryan Rental Inc. 013 525-527 North Park
1210 Fast University Street 2nd UC, Lot 27
Bloomington IN 47401 p. 258
Roy & Barbara Campbell 013 802 Fast 8th
4353 Centennial Drive 3rd UC, ot 10 |
Bloauington TV 47404 p. 259
Central District of the 013 607 Fast Sth
Evangelical Tutheran 1st UC, Iots 1,2,3
Synod of Missouri p. 253
c/o University Lutheran
607 Fast Seventh Street
Bloomington TN 47408
Cagsandra McCrory Cole & 073 514 North Fess
Jearmine Butler 1st TC, Lot 23
514 North Fess North Fess 0. 258
Bloomington TN 47408
George DeKalb 013 502 North Indiana f
502 North Indiana Avenue ist UC, Lot 15 §
Bloomington IN 47408 p. 255
Charles W., Touise B., 013 421 North Park
~, a

Allen W., & Susan P. Dumn 1 UC, p. 257
923 North College Avenue

Blocmington IN 47404

N
P )
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Terry L., Blkins
502 South Washington Street
Bloomington TN 47401

Daisy E. Garton
2920 Fast Tenth Street
Bloomington TN 47408

Golfing Greek Partnership
712 South Raven Crest Ave
Bloomington IN 47401

i, Stanley & Mildred Hamilton
516 North Fess
Bloomington TN 47408

Tnez G, Harlos & Abbie Shepherd
P.0, Box 1331
Bloomington TN 47402

Indiana University

Campug Chwistian Ministry, Inc.
c/o Student Christian

Youth Fellowship

707 Fast Eighth Street
‘Bloomington IN 47408

Indiana University Foundation
P.0. Box 500
Bloomington T 47402

The North Awerican Islamic Trust, Inc.
c/o Islamic Students Center

809 East EBighth Strest

Bloomingtain TN 47408

Alice Reid Jwaideh
101¢ Bast First Street
Bloomington IN 47401

013
st and Znd UC
p. 255 and 257

013
2nd UC
. 256

013
ist UC
p. 253

. UC, Lot 24

ist UC; Lot 27

2nd UC, Lots 12, 13

013
3xd UC,
p. 259

ot 6

013
3xd UC
p. 260

013
2nd UC
0. 257

503 North Fess
408-422 North Fess

309-311 North Park

315-317 North Fess

516 North Fess

I~ T

50%-513 North Fess
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707 and 71
8th

321 North Woodlawn

710-712 East 9th
415 North Park
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Kappa Alpha Tneta 013 4471 Worth Woodlawn
Beta Chagter House Corp. 3rd UC
c/o President 0. 260

441 North Viocdlawn
Blooarington TV 47406

Fall & Madge M. King 613 762 Fast Tenin
702 Bast Tenth Street 2ad UC

Bloomington 19 47408 p. 258

Merrill Davis Kissick 013 812 Fast &th
6106 River View Drive 3rd UC, ot 8

Indianapolis IN 46203 p. 25¢

Rarl & Rose Krakowitz 013 71% Fast 7th
2212 Queens Way 2na UC

Bloomington IN 47401 P 200

Lambda Corp. 013 601 East 7th
c/o Sigma Thi President st UC

601 East Seventh Street p. 253

Bloomington IN 47408

Dorothy L. Long 613 515 North Fess
3840 East Saratoya Drive 1st UC, ot 26

Bloomingron TN 47401 p. 255

Word Patterson 013 816-820 Last 8th
3648 Tast Morningside Drive 3ra UC, ot 7

Bloomington IN 47401 p- 259

Bbraham & Nina Grossbaum 013 607 Tast Sth
1037 Golf Tane 1st UC, Lot 30

Indianapolis, IN 46260 0.255

Jimray Tewls Ross 013 506 North Indiana
506 North Indiana ist UC, 1ot 16

Bloomnington I 47403 p. 255

Phillip F. & Bonnie Blakely Sperry 013 505, 517, and 521
1303 Matlock Road 1st UC, iots 23, 25, North Fess
Bloomington TN 47401 25, p. 255

William Mode Taylor 013 714 Fast 9th
7870 East 500 South 2nd UC

Zionsville IN 46077 p. 257

I
i
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Margaret O'Neal Tomey
704 FTast Tenith Street
Bloomingron TN 47408

Steghanie L. Topolgus,; etal.
c/o Morris H. Brickson

712 sSouth Raven Crest 2ave
Bloomington TN 47401

Trustees of Indiana Urniversity
Office of the President

Bryar: Hall 200

Bloomington TN 47405

Cheryl Underwood, etal.

508 HNorih Washington St.
Bloomington TN 47408

2 UcC, Lotks 1-4; 7-

11, 14,

15, 19-22,

25, 28-34, 37, p.
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013
2rd UC,
p. 256

iots 1-5;
14-16,
lock; pp.

ot 6

704 Fast 10th

Glen Black Lab,
Mathers Museun,
422 North Indiana

703-715 Bast 7th,
701, 712, and 715~
717 Tast 8th, 405~
409 North Park,
406, D04-512 and
520 Worth Fess,
561--521 North Park

801-815 Eagt 7th
310-312, 402 and
10 North Park
802, 815 and 825

Fast 3th, 305
North Woodlawn,
801 and 80S East
Sth

7

718-720 Fast Oth




